
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 
Civil Action No. 17-cv-00904-KLM  
 
MICHAEL RYAN,  
SHARON MOLINA, 
EARBY MOXON, and 
HEATHER MYERS, 
 on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated, 
 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
SUSAN E. BIRCH, in her official capacity only, as Executive Director of the Colorado State 
Department of Health Care Policy and Financing, 
 

Defendant. 
 

DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ 
FIRST AND SECOND CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 
 Defendant Susan E. Birch, in her official capacity as Executive Director of the Colorado 

State Department of Health Care Policy & Financing (“the Department”), by and through the 

Colorado Attorney General and Assistant Attorneys General Jennifer L. Weaver, Corelle M. 

Spettigue, W. Eric Kuhn, and Rachel O. Entrican, hereby moves pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 

12(b)(6) to dismiss Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief asserted in their Amended 

Class Action Complaint (“Complaint”). [ECF 14.] In support of this Motion to Dismiss, the 

Department states as follows: 

CONFERRAL PURSUANT TO D.C.COLO.LCivR 7.1(a) 

Motions brought pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 12 are exempt from the requirement to 

confer. D.C.COLO.LCivR 7.1(b). 
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INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs erroneously allege that they are entitled to relief pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 

1396a(a)(10)(A), (a)(10)(B)(i) and (a)(10)(B)(ii) (Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief). 

Although Plaintiffs claim the Department improperly denied them medically necessary 

treatment, they incorrectly rely on these general Medicaid eligibility provisions as the basis for 

their claims. [ECF 14, ¶¶ 104-12.] What Plaintiffs really are alleging is a violation of the 

medical-necessity statute found at 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17) (2017). This provision does not 

confer a right of action to Plaintiffs that would be enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Plaintiffs 

cannot bring a § 1983 challenge for a statutory cause of action that was never granted by 

Congress. As such, Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims must be dismissed.  

BACKGROUND 

The Colorado Department of Health Care Policy and Financing is the single state agency 

responsible for the administration of the Medicaid program in Colorado. COLO. REV. STAT. 

§ 25.5-4-104(1) (2017). Where a state accepts federal Medicaid funds, as Colorado does, it must 

comply with federal Medicaid law. See 42 U.S.C. § 1396a; Indep. Acceptance Co. v. California, 

204 F.3d 1247, 1249 (9th Cir. 2000). The Social Security Act (“the Act”) requires states to 

provide Medicaid recipients with certain mandatory services, as identified in federal law. See 

42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A); 42 U.S.C. § 1396d(a); 42 C.F.R. § 440.210(a) (2017). Outpatient 

prescription drug benefits are not a mandatory service. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A); 42 USC 

1396d(a)(xvii)(12). Instead, states, like Colorado, may elect to furnish such services under their 

State plans. COLO. REV. STAT. §§ 25.5-5-202(1)(a)(I) and 506; see also 42 C.F.R. § 440.225.  
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The Act, at 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17), “confers broad discretion on the States to adopt 

standards for determining the extent of medical assistance, requiring only that such standards be 

‘reasonable’ and ‘consistent with the objectives’ of the Act.” Beal v. Doe, 432 U.S. 438, 444 

(1977). An “agency may place appropriate limits on a service based on such criteria as medical 

necessity or on utilization control procedures.” 42 C.F.R. § 440.230(d). “In so doing, a state can 

review the medical necessity of treatment prescribed by a doctor on a case-by-case basis, and 

may present its own evidence of medical necessity in disputes between the state and Medicaid 

patients.” Moore v. Reese, 637 F.3d 1220, 1255 (11th Cir. 2011) (reversing summary judgment 

to plaintiff enrollee and holding that a “private physician’s word on medical necessity is not 

dispositive”) (citing Rush v. Parham, 625 F.2d 1150, 1155 (5th Cir. 1980)). This discretion is 

afforded because a participating state “is not required to fund desirable but medically 

unnecessary services requested by a Medicaid recipient’s physician.” Moore, 637 F.3d at 1244.   

In keeping with these principles, Colorado, like any state electing to provide prescription 

drug benefits, has the authority to limit the coverage for those drugs under federal law. See 

42 U.S.C. § 1396r-8(d). States are specifically allowed to “subject to prior authorization any 

covered outpatient drug.” Id. at (d)(1) (emphasis added). As such, and pursuant to this authority, 

Colorado’s Medicaid program requires health care providers to complete a prior authorization 

process (“Prior Authorization Request” or “PAR”) before a Medicaid recipient is covered to 

receive certain identified prescription drugs under Colorado’s pharmacy drug benefit. See 

10 COLO. CODE REGS. 2505-10 § 8.800.7.A (2017).  

One class of prescription drugs that require a PAR is for the treatment of Hepatitis C 

virus (“HCV”). [See ECF 14, ¶ 68.] The drugs are known collectively as Direct Acting Antiviral 
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medications (“DAAs”). This class of drugs only began receiving approval from the Federal Drug 

Administration as recently as 2013. [ECF 14, ¶ 35.] Prescribers who want to request DAAs for a 

Medicaid recipient infected with HCV must submit a PAR to the Department and provide 

sufficient information to satisfy the prior authorization criteria associated with the drug being 

requested. See 10 COLO. CODE REGS. 2505-10 § 8.800.7.A.  

The prior authorization criteria are enumerated in the Department’s Preferred Drug 

List—“a list, applicable only to fee-for-service and primary care physician Medical Assistance 

Program non-Medicare clients, which identifies the Preferred Drugs and Non-preferred Drugs 

within a drug class.” 10 COLO. CODE REGS. 2505-10 § 8.800.1.CC. The criteria are developed 

and maintained through the process outlined in the Department’s rules, and include clinical 

review and recommendations by subject matter experts within two distinct advisory boards—the 

Pharmacy and Therapeutics Committee and the Drug Utilization Review Board. 10 COLO. CODE 

REGS. 2505-10 § 8.800.16.A.   

Currently, treatment of HCV with Direct Acting Antiviral medications is covered by the 

Department. [ECF 14-3 (Pls.’ Ex. C), at 22]. However, per the discretion afforded to it by law, 

the Department differentiates between preferred and non-preferred agents. [Id.] Of the DAA’s 

approved by the Food and Drug Administration in recent years, the Department has designated 

Viekira Pak, Viekira XR, Epclusa, and Technivie as preferred agents. [Id.] Daklinza, Harvoni, 

Olysio, Sovaldi, and Zepatier are designated as non-preferred agents. [Id.] 

A Medicaid recipient seeking approval for a preferred agent must satisfy certain criteria, 

one of which relates to his or her Metavir Fibrosis Score. [ECF 14-3, at 22.] With regard to this 
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criterion, an individual has several options to demonstrate the existence of a qualifying Metavir 

Fibrosis Score, including: 

Option 1: A biopsy less than five years old; or 

Option 2: A FibroScan; or 

Option 3: Imaging; or 

Option 4: Concordance among: 

(A) either a FibroTest or a FibroMeter (within 6 months); plus 
(B)  either FIB4 or APRI; or 
 

Option 5: Shear Wave Elastography. 

[ECF 14-3, at 22–23.] 

The Department’s Preferred Drug List criteria include methodology in which a Medicaid 

recipient who does not have a qualifying Metavir Fibrosis Score can still qualify under other 

enumerated options. [Id. at 22.] For example, the current prior authorization criteria also accept 

evidence of a member’s serious extra-hepatic manifestations as a basis for prior authorization. 

[Id.] Additionally, a member can submit evidence that he or she has fibrosing cholestatic HCV. 

[Id.] Another qualifying standard involves members who are planning to become pregnant within 

the next year, or where the member is post-liver transplant. [Id. at 23.]  

The PAR process is designed to give the Department information to evaluate the impact 

of a patient’s chronic HCV infection and circumstances that may weigh in favor or against DAA 

treatment. It also is an opportunity for Medicaid recipients’ treating physicians to provide a 

complete medical picture of their patients with regard to the recipients’ specific medical 

circumstances. Physicians have provided information which has enabled the Department to 

assess extra-hepatic factors suggesting DAA treatment may be indicated. Thus, the Department 
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provides Medicaid recipients with several avenues by which to demonstrate that the DAA they 

request is a medically necessary treatment for their HCV under the Medicaid Program. 

All four named Plaintiffs allege they have tested positive for Hepatitis C. Each named 

Plaintiff’s treating physician submitted a PAR to the Department on his or her behalf for 

treatment with DAAs. [ECF 14-5, 14-6, 14-7, and 14-9 (Pls.’ Exs. E, F, G, and I).] Plaintiffs’ 

PARs were reviewed and considered under the current version of the Preferred Drug List 

criteria.1 [ECF 14-3 at 1, 22 (“Effective October 1, 2016”).] Based on that review, the 

Department denied the PAR requests; and, in some circumstances, requested additional 

information which, as of the date of this Motion, does not appear to have been provided. [ECF 

14-5 (Pls.’ Ex. E), at 1 (“No new information presented to overturn denial”); ECF 14-6 (Pls. Ex. 

F), at 1 (“Do you have either imaging, biopsy, or fibroscan?”).] Plaintiffs now bring this class 

action lawsuit before the Court to challenge the denial of their PAR requests.  

In their Amended Class Action Complaint, Plaintiffs raise three separate claims for relief. 

[ECF 14.] First, Plaintiffs seek permanent injunctive relief because they allege that the criteria 

enumerated in the Department’s Preferred Drug List “directly and categorically contradict [ ] the 

prevailing clinical standard of care, and therefore denies Plaintiff and those like them medically 

necessary care, as defined under federal and state law.” [ECF 14, ¶¶ 106–08.] Their second claim 

also seeks permanent injunctive relief, alleging that the Department discriminated among 

“similarly situated” Medicaid recipients infected with HCV by denying treatment to some but 

approving others, thereby violating the Social Security Act’s comparability requirements. [ECF 

                                      
1 Plaintiff Moxon submitted two PARs, one under the prior version of the Preferred Drug List 
criteria and, most recently, under the current criteria. [ECF 14-7 (Pls.’ Ex. G).]   
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14, ¶¶ 110-12.] Their final claim again seeks permanent injunctive relief, based on the allegation 

that the Department has violated the “reasonable promptness” provision of the Act by delaying 

treatment “based solely” on Metavir Fibrosis Scores. [ECF 14, ¶¶ 114-16.]  

Because Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief are thinly-veiled critiques of the 

Department’s medical-necessity and utilization-control methodologies, and do not implicate 

Plaintiffs’ eligibility determinations, Plaintiffs lack a statutory right of action and, consequently, 

they have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). As 

such, Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims should be dismissed with prejudice.  

ARGUMENT 

I. Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief fail to state a claim upon which 
relief may be granted under Rule 12(b)(6). 
 
A. Standard of Review 

 
The function of the Court with regard to a Rule 12(b)(6) motion “is not to weigh potential 

evidence that the parties might present at trial, but to assess whether the plaintiff’s complaint 

alone is legally sufficient to state a claim for which relief may be granted.” Tal v. Hogan, 453 

F.3d 1244, 1252 (10th Cir. 2006) (citations and quotation marks omitted). Dismissal is 

appropriate under Rule 12(b)(6) if the plaintiff fails to provide factual allegations sufficient to 

raise a right to relief above the speculative level. See Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 

555 (2007). Where a plaintiff fails to allege a violation of his or her rights secured by the 

Constitution or the laws of the United States, the plaintiff has not stated a valid claim under 

§ 1983. See Gonzaga Univ. v. Doe, 536 U.S. 273, 285 (2002).   
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B. Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief are an impermissible challenge 
to the Department’s application of 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17), even though 
they are described in different terms. 
 

Plaintiffs assert their First and Second Claims under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 (hereinafter 

referred to as “§ 1983”), arguing they are entitled to relief because the Department allegedly 

violated the Medicaid “availability requirement” enumerated in 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10)(A) 

and (a)(10)(B). [ECF 14, ¶¶ 58, 64.] Notably, however, these sections are general provisions in 

the Act requiring that certain mandatory services be provided to individuals who are eligible 

under the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(10)(A) (“A State plan for medical assistance must . . . 

provide . . . for making medical assistance available, including at least the care and services 

listed in paragraphs (1) through (5), (17), (21), and (28) of section 1905(a) [42 USCS § 

1396d(a)], to . . . all individuals  . . . [who are categorically needy].”). For example, all state 

Medicaid programs must provide certain inpatient hospital services to their members. 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1396d(a)(xvii)(1). Prescription drug benefits are not one of these mandatory services. 42 

U.S.C. §§ 1396a(a)(10)(A), 1396d(a)(1) - (5), (17), (21), (28). 

Indeed, a majority of circuits consider these provisions as generally mandating 

participating States to provide medical assistance to all individuals who are eligible to receive aid 

or assistance under a State’s approved Medicaid plan. See e.g., Hobbs ex rel. Hobbs v. 

Zenderman, 579 F.3d 1171, 1182 (10th Cir. 2009) (citing Spry v. Thompson, 487 F.3d 1272, 

1275–76 (9th Cir. 2007); Watson v. Weeks, 436 F.3d 1152, 1159 (9th Cir. 2006); S.D. ex rel. 

Dickson v. Hood, 391 F.3d 581, 603 (5th Cir. 2004); Sabree ex rel. Sabree v. Richman, 367 F.3d 

180, 189–90 (3d Cir. 2004); Pediatric Specialty Care, Inc. v. Ark. Dep’t of Human Servs., 

293 F.3d 472, 478–79 (8th Cir. 2002); Westside Mothers v. Haveman, 289 F.3d 852, 863 
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(6th Cir. 2002); Miller ex rel. Miller v. Whitburn, 10 F.3d 1315, 1319 (7th Cir. 1993)). Further, 

Plaintiffs do not allege facts that the PAR criteria apply differently to categorically needy versus 

medically needy individuals. 2 And yet, Plaintiffs do not assert in their Complaint that the 

Department has either wrongfully determined their eligibility to receive Medicaid benefits under 

Colorado’s Medicaid program, or that the Department has withheld any of the mandatory 

services guaranteed to Plaintiff under § 1396a(a)(10)(A) or (10)(B). [ECF 14.]  

Instead, the crux of the argument in Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims is one of 

methodology: Plaintiffs allege the Department’s Preferred Drug List criteria, and specifically the 

criteria related to an individual’s Metavir Fibrosis Score, denies them access to “medically 

necessary” treatment. [ECF 14, ¶¶ 57, 58, 62, 63.] Within Plaintiffs’ First Claim, they 

characterize their grievance with the criteria as a denial of “medically necessary care, as defined 

under federal and state law.” [ECF 14, ¶ 106.] Plaintiffs explicitly allege that the Department’s 

application of the criteria “was illegal . . . because it denied infected individuals coverage of 

medically necessary treatment with no medical justification.” [ECF 14, ¶ 67.] Plaintiffs further 

contend that the Department’s criteria “illegally restricts the coverage of medically necessary 

treatment.” [ECF 14, ¶ 70.]  

                                      
2With regard to their Second Claim, Plaintiffs allege that other Medicaid enrollees have received 
treatment for Hepatitis C and, as “similarly situated” enrollees, Plaintiffs also are entitled to 
DAA treatment. However, Plaintiffs admit in their Complaint that they are not similarly situated 
to other Medicaid enrollees who have received treatment, given that they have not demonstrated 
medical necessity in keeping with the Department’s enumerated criteria. [See ECF 14 (Pls.’ Am. 
Compl.) ¶¶ 75, 78 (Plaintiffs do not qualify under the Department’s criteria “due to insufficient 
MFS score”; or on any other basis)]; and see ECF 14-5 (Pls.’ Ex. E), ECF 14-6 (Pls.’ Ex. F) 
(nonconcordance), ECF 14-7 (Pls.’ Ex. G) (same), and ECF 14-9 (Pls.’ Ex. I (“the client does not 
meet the criteria for approval”).] 
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To be sure, Plaintiffs openly challenge the Department’s methodology for providing 

medical assistance under the medical-necessity standard, not any Department action related to 

Plaintiffs’ general eligibility to receive medical assistance. This type of challenge could only be 

brought under the Act’s medical-necessity provision at 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17). Id. (requiring 

participating states to “include reasonable standards . . . for determining eligibility for and the 

extent of medical assistance under the plan which (A) are consistent with the objectives of this 

title . . . .”). It follows then that Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims actually arise as a § 1983 

challenge to an alleged violation of § 1396a(a)(17), not § 1396a(a)(10)(A) or (B), as pled in their 

Complaint. Thus, upon having determined the true legal basis for Plaintiffs’ challenge, the 

inquiry turns to whether § 1396a(a)(17) is enforceable under § 1983. 

C. 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17) is not enforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 
 

To enforce a federal statute under § 1983, Plaintiff “must assert the violation of a federal 

right, not merely a violation of federal law.” Blessing v. Freestone, 520 U.S. 329, 340 (1997) 

(citing Golden State Transit Corp. v. Los Angeles, 493 U.S. 103 (1989)); accord Gonzaga, 

536 U.S. at 273. In determining whether a violation of a federal right has occurred, a court 

considers three factors: (1) Congress must have intended that the provision in question benefit 

Plaintiff; (2) Plaintiff must demonstrate that the right assertedly protected by the statute is not so 

vague and amorphous that its enforcement would strain judicial competence; and (3) the statute 

must unambiguously impose a binding obligation on the states, meaning that “the provision 

giving rise to the asserted right must be couched in mandatory rather than precatory terms.” Id. 

Failure to satisfy any one of the three prongs renders a federal statute unenforceable under § 

1983. Id.   
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Here, § 1396a(a)(17)—the only provision under which Plaintiffs’ First and Second 

§ 1983 claims could arise—ultimately fails under all three prongs of the Supreme Court’s 

Blessing test. First, Congress did not intend that § 1396a(a)(17) benefit Plaintiffs. Under 

Blessing, not only must Congress intend that a statute confer such a benefit, but it must explicitly 

state as much by using “rights-creating language” that clearly imparts an “individual entitlement” 

and have an “unmistakable focus on the benefited class.” Gonzaga, 536 U.S. at 287.  

As the Eighth, Ninth, and Tenth Circuits have already recognized, Congress had no such 

intent when it enacted § 1396a(a)(17): the provision is only a “general discretion-granting 

requirement that a state adopt reasonable standards.” Weeks, 436 F.3d at 1162; see also Lankford 

v. Sherman, 451 F.3d 496, 509 (8th Cir. 2006); Hobbs, 579 F.3d at 1182. Unlike other 

subsections of section 1396a, the “methodology provisions” contained in § 1396a(a)(17) “are not 

phrased with an unmistakable focus on the benefitted class.” Hobbs, 579 F.3d at 1182 (citing 

Gonzaga, 536 U.S. at 284); see also Weeks, 436 F.3d at 1162.  

Indeed, the medical necessity provision’s key language contains nothing “focusing on the 

benefitted class”; and, in fact, “mention[s] individuals only tangentially.” Hobbs, 579 F.3d 

at 1182. Moreover, “as in Gonzaga University, the individual references merely describe ‘the 

type of policy or practice’ that a state official must follow.” Id. (quoting Gonzaga, 536 U.S. 

at 288). Such “passing references” cannot provide the “rights-creating language critical to 

showing the requisite congressional intent to create new rights.” Hobbs, 579 F.3d at 1182. 

Rather, because § 1396a(a)(17) focuses on the “aggregate practices of the states in establishing 

reasonable Medicaid service” and are “unmistakably directed … to the administrators of state 

Medicaid plans,” the provision imposes only a duty on the State. Lankford, 451 F.3d at 509; 
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Hobbs, 579 F.3d at 1182. Accordingly, § 1396a(a)(17) fails the first prong of Blessing, which is 

“fatal … to the existence of a section 1983 [cause of action].” Id. (quoting Weeks, 436 F.3d at 

1159).  

And, even if § 1396a(a)(17) could be interpreted as a rights-creating statute, it also fails 

the second prong of Blessing because the right it would create is too vague and amorphous to 

enable judicial enforcement. As the Ninth Circuit correctly opined in Weeks,  

. . . the provision does not provide meaningful instruction for the 
interpretation of ‘reasonable standards’ in terms of medical need 
. . . the only guidance . . . regarding medical need eligibility is that 
state standards be ‘consistent with the objectives of this 
subchapter.’ Judicial enforcement of section 1396a(a)(17) . . . 
would require a court to delve into the medical necessity of 
particular types of care. If Congress had intended that result, it 
would have provided more concrete standards in the statute for 
determining eligibility based on medical need. 
 

Weeks, 436 F.3d at 1162–63. Thus, § 1396a(a)(17) also fails under the second prong of the 

Blessing test.  

Finally, the statute does not unambiguously impose a binding obligation on the states as 

is required under the third Blessing prong. Instead, § 1396a(a)(17) “sets forth only broad, general 

goals, which the states have broad discretion to implement.” Lankford, 451 F.3d at 509.  

Consequently, 42 U.S.C. § 1396a(a)(17) fails under all three prongs of the Blessing test. 

This provision, upon which Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims for Relief are based, is 

unenforceable under 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Therefore, this Court should dismiss Plaintiffs’ first two 

claims for failing to state a claim upon which relief can be granted, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6). 
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CONCLUSION 

For all the foregoing reasons, Defendant Susan E. Birch in her official capacity moves to 

dismiss Plaintiffs’ First and Second Claims with prejudice pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 12(b)(6). 

Respectfully submitted this 23rd day of May 2017. 

CYNTHIA H. COFFMAN 
Attorney General 
 
 
s/Rachel O. Entrican 
Rachel O. Entrican* 
Assistant Attorney General 
Jennifer L. Weaver* 
First Assistant Attorney General 
Corelle M. Spettigue* 
W. Eric Kuhn* 
Senior Assistant Attorneys General 
Michael D. McMaster* 
Assistant Attorney General 
Colorado Department of Law 
State Services Section 
1300 Broadway, 6th Floor 
Denver, CO  80203 
Telephone:  (720) 508-6140 
FAX:  (720) 508-6041 
Email:  rachel.entrican@coag.gov  
Attorneys for Defendant  
*Counsel of Record 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I certify that I served the foregoing DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST AND SECOND CLAIMS FOR RELIEF upon all parties herein by e-filing 

with the CM/ECF system maintained by the court this 23rd day of May 2017 addressed as follows: 

Paul G. Karlsgodt 
Baker & Hostetler LLP 
1801 California Street, Suite 4400 
Denver, CO  80202 
pkarlsgodt@bakerlaw.com  
 
Mark Silverstein 
Sara R. Neel 
Arash Jahanian 
American Civil Liberties Union of Colorado  
303 East 17th Avenue, Suite 350 
Denver, CO 80203 
msilverstein@aclu-co.org  
sneel@aclu-co.org  
ajahanian@aclu-co.org  
 
Kevin Costello 
Center for Health Law & Policy Innovation of Harvard Law School 
122 Boylston Street 
Jamaica Plain, MA 02130 
kcostello@law.harvard.edu  
 

s/Leslie Bostwick 
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